

Institutionen för vattenbyggnad Chalmers Tekniska Högskola

Department of Hydraulics Chalmers University of Technology



Report Series B:62

Göteborg 1996



Chalmers Tekniska Högskola Institutionen för Vattenbyggnad Department of Hydraulics Chalmers University of Technology

MODEX Version 3 User's Manual

by

Lars Bergdahl

Report Series B:62

Göteborg 1996

Address: Department of Hydraulics Chalmers University of Technology 412 96 Göteborg, Sweden Tel.: +31 772 21 66 Fax: +31 772 21 28 E-mail: lasse@hydr.chalmers.se

North Color Anna Anna Urser a francost

121

PREFACE

MODEX is a finite element program for static and dynamic analysis of cables without bending stiffness. This User's Manual for MODEX (Version 3) replaces the 1987 User's Manual for MODEX - MODIM (Version 2), which was written in connection with the sale of the code to Petroleo Brasileiro SA, Rio de Janeiro. The new manual accounts for improvements made to the code between Version 2 and Version 3 and especially for the improved, interactive input and output for the PC environment. Version 3 can treat cases with buoyant and neutrally buoyant cables, and submerged clump weights and buoys. The main part of the code is written in FORTRAN 90 or FORTRAN 77, but the separate input and output subroutines make use of the GRAPHORIA LIBRARY from Lahey Computer Systems, Inc. and a few subroutines are written in Assembler(PC). The implicit program version MODIM is no longer sustained by development and is therefore excluded from the manual

It should be possible to run the program on any IBM compatible personal computer with at least five megabytes extended memory and provided with VGA graphics adapter. For the plot output, a Laser printer with postscript or plot (HPGL) emulation is necessary.

The original program was developed by Jan Lindahl at the Department of Hydraulics, which retain the proprietary rights. Corrections and additions have been made by Nils Mårtensson, Dynomar AB, and Lars Bergdahl, Martin Asztély and Francisco Herrera at the Department of Hydraulics. Francisco Herrera has created the new input and output routines of the program.

Göteborg, Sweden, December 1996

Lars Bergdahl

DISCLAIMER

Chalmers University of Technology, Lars Bergdahl and Jan Lindahl make no representations or warranties with respect to the contents or use of the MODEX computer package and specifically disclaims any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for any particular purpose.

COPYRIGHT

The MODEX computer package contains material for which the Department of Hydraulics, Chalmers University of Technology or its suppliers retain proprietary rights. However, the Department of Hydraulics, Chalmers University of Technology wants this package to be fully usable for the purpose for which it is supplied. No infringement of the rights of Chalmers University of Technology or of its suppliers will occur provided that the following conditions are observed with respect to each computer program in the package.

The copyright notices are reproduced and included in any copy or modification made to the programs, and in any portion merged into other programs; and

If the program package is transferred to another party, all copies and modifications made of the program must be transferred or destroyed. No right shall be retained with respect to the transferred package. The other party must agree to observe these conditions.

Any other act involving reproduction or use of, or other dealing in the programs is prohibited.

The subroutines COLSOL and JACOBI contained in the package are developed by professor K J Bathe and are included in the package free of charge according to the written consent of Professor Bathe.

The manual and the reports for the program may be freely copied.

CONTENTS

PREFACE	I
DISCLAIMER	11
COPYRIGHT	ш
CONTENTS	v
1 INTRODUCTION	4.00° 1
1.1 Examples	2
1.2 Other Features of MODEX	4
2 HOW TO RUN MODEX	5
2.1 Batch Mode	5
2.2 Interactive Mode Main menu Graphics menu Example of displayed graph Plot menu	6 7 7 8
 3 INPUT TO MODEX Data Group 1. Basic geometry and type of problem Restrictions on XL1 and XL2 and examples of configurations. Comments on eigenfrequency analysis External excitation files, IEXCIT Example of content of external file for three-dimensional displacements Data Group 2 Segment properties Data Group 3 Parameters for numerical solution of static configuration Data Group 4 Stiffness of sea floor. Data Group 5 Water density Data Group 6 Hydrodynamic coefficients and cable diameter Data Group 7 Specification of steady current Data Group 9 Time integration data Data Group 10 Bottom friction. Data Group 11 Specification of excitation and compressional behaviour Data Group 13 Scale factor for time Data Group 14 Specification of forces Data Group 15 Scale factor of displacements Data Group 18 Association of specified forces with nodes and directions Data Group 19 Association of specified isplacements Data Group 19 Scale factor for displacements Data Group 19 Scale factor for displacements Data Group 19 Scale factor for displacements Data Group 19 Association of specified forces with nodes and directions Data Group 19 Association of specified isplacements with nodes and directions Data Group 20 Request for plots 	11 11 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 20 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 28 28 29 30 30 30 31

Data Group 23 Velocities Data Group 24 Accelerations Data Group 25 Internal force Data Group 26 Strains Data Group 27 Tangential drag force Data Group 28 Normal drag force Data Group 29 Cable positions (Cable envelope) Data Group 30 Time instants for cable positions	31 31 32 32 32 33 33 33 34
4 EXAMPLES OF CALCULATIONS	35
4.1 Displacement-Excited Cable in a Current	35
4.2 Displacement-Excited Mooring Cable	44
4.3 Displacement-Excited Flexible Riser.	51
REFERENCES	59
	61
A.1 Flow Chart	61
A2. Description of Main Program and Subroutines.	63
APPENDIX B	67
Internal Damping of the Cable in MODEX	67
APPENDIX C	69
Friction Between the Cable and the Sea Floor in MODEX	69

1 Introduction

MODEX is a finite element computer package for static and dynamic analysis of cables without bending stiffness. The theoretical background to the computer package is accounted for in the reports Dynamic Analysis of Mooring Cables (Lindahl & Sjöberg, 1983) and in Implicit Numerical Solution of the Equations of Motion of a Mooring Cable (in Swedish, Lindahl, 1984). Information from the latter report is included in Appendices B and C of this manual. The finite element method has been used to transform the partial differential equations that describe the motion of the mooring cable into a system of ordinary differential equations, which is solved with an explicit integration in the time domain.

Linear bar elements with constant stiffness and linear, viscous damping are used. See Appendix C. As a result the tension is constant in along each element. Large displacements are taken into account by updating the geometric stiffness matrix at chosen intervals, ordinarily every time step.

The program package contains three separate modules, one helpfile and two drivers.

MODEX.EXE	MOoring Dynamics EXplicit method.
INDATA.EXE	Pre-processor to edit and generate input to the program.
LOOK.EXE	Help program for displaying text files on screen.
DEFAULT.INP	Default file with pre-defined values for a common case.
EPSLDRV.BIN	Driver for PostScript.
HGLDRV.BIN	Driver for HPGL Plotter.

MODEX.EXE is an implementation of the theories of Lindahl and Sjöberg (1983) with the small changes accounted for in Appendices B and C, and complemented with statistics for the calculation of the mean, standard deviation and extreme values of selected quantities. This new version, Version 3, also includes a module of subroutines to handle the graphics output of the program. The graphics can be directly transferred into WINDOWS word processors. Version 3 can treat cases with buoyant and neutrally buoyant cables, and submerged clump weights and buoys.

INDATA.EXE is a self-explanatory pre-processor that will guide through the data groups needed for a specific case of calculation. Some important control functions are implemented to help the user to put in correct data.

The organisation of the input data is described in detail in Chapter 3, in order that input can be changed directly in the input file, by use of some text editor, disregarding recommended limits of input parameters.

LOOK.EXE is a fast, assembler program for reading text files. The pre-processor uses this program to invite the user to check values generated by the program.

DEFAULT.INP is a default file which contains a template for input. The content of this file may be changed but its name must not be changed.

EPSLDRV.BIN is a driver that generates files in PostScript format. These files can later be plotted with the DOS command COPY.

HGLDRV.BIN is similar to EPSLDRV, but the generated files are in the format HPGL. This enables the import of the files into a word processor.

1.1 Examples

Figures 1.1 and 1.2 show two typical cases that can be analysed. MODEX has also been used for the preliminary analyses of taut marine risers, tethers of TLP platforms and of flexible risers.



Figure 1.1 A mooring cable



Figure 1.2 A displacement-excited towing cable in a current.

The first case shows the simulation of a displacement-excited mooring cable. Known motions are specified as boundary conditions at the upper end of the cable and the anchor which is regarded fixed. The boundary conditions in the upper end can, for instance, be a time realisation of the expected motion of the fairlead of a floating platform. Further, the presence of the sea bottom and steady currents are taken into account. In the second case a cable is shown that is excited at both ends. This could represent a simulation of a towing cable between a ship and a barge.

In both the figures one instantaneous position of the cable and a reference configuration are shown. The reference configuration is the static equilibrium position of the cable under the influence of weight, buoyancy and the sea bottom. The static equilibrium position is calculated first. This position is then used as an initial condition and a reference configuration in a dynamic analysis. The static position can be associated with the mean position of a floating platform under the exposition of steady current mean wind, and mean wave drift forces.

1.2 Other Features of MODEX

- o Two and three-dimensional calculations can be performed.
- o The sea bottom is simulated as rigid and fully energy absorbing for vertical motions.
- o Longitudinal and transverse friction along the sea bottom are taken into account in the time-domain simulation but not in the static analysis. See Appendix C.
- o Internal damping can be taken into account. See Appendix B.
- o Boundary values can be formulated in the form of prescribed forces or motions at the end of the cable. External forces can be prescribed also in nodes along the cable.
- o At compressive strain, a choice between alternatives can be made. Either the cable can be allowed to carry compressional forces, or the force in the cable element is set to zero, as long as the distance between the adjacent nodes is shorter than the unstretched length of the element. The calculation is not discontinued in either case.

As stated above the time simulation is performed by an explicit numerical integration. The explicit integration is conditionally stable, which implies that the time increments may not be too large. If too large time increments are chosen, first inaccurate solutions are received, then, for still larger time increments, the solution procedure diverges.

2 How to Run MODEX

There are two ways of running the program MODEX; in batch mode or interactively.

In both cases input files describing the properties of the cable and its excitation must first be created according to the description in Chapter 3 or interactively with the help of a menu-aided input program. See Paragraph 2.2.

The input files has the extension *.inp Excitations can also be given in separate files which shall have the extension *.dpl. Results from the calculations are for each input file produced as one file with the extension *.out and one file with the extension *.grf. The file *.out contains a list of all input data except the external excitation, some key results and error messages, if any. The file *.grf contains all the requested graphic information needed for generating graphs.

2.1 Batch Mode

To the DOS prompt in the appropriate directory, type

modex *filename1.*inp

where *filename1* is the name of an existing input files.

In this mode the program will return to the DOS prompt when the calculation is completed or faults are found in the input file. For running several long simulations in batch mode, a batch file with the following content can be executed:

modex *filename1.*inp modex *filename2.*inp modex *filename3.*inp etc.

Each command must be written on a separate line.

The generated result files can be studied or plotted later.

All the results of the calculation will be saved in files with the same name as the filename but with different extensions. For example, the file *filename1*.grf contains all the graphic information that the program needs for generating graphs in the computer screen, and for plotting diagrams. The file *filename1*.out contains a detailed explanation of the inputs, error messages, and some important key results.

2.2 Interactive Mode

To the DOS prompt in the appropriate directory, type:

modex

The program will reply with the following menu.

Main menu

>>	MAIN MENU <<
1.	Edit default file.
2.	Edit old file
3.	See input file
4.	See output file
5.	Run the program
6.	See graphics result

Figure 2.1: Main Menu.

- Option 1 makes it possible to edit a new input file derived from the default file.
- Option 2 makes it possible to edit a new input file derived from a file created earlier.
- Option 3 makes it possible to see the input values of a file.
- Option 4 makes it possible to see the output results from a calculation.
- Option 5 the program will first ask for the name of the input file to be run. Then the program execution will stop after the static reference configuration has been created, and this will be shown on the screen. After the eigenvalue analysis or dynamic simulation is completed the program returns to the main menu.
- Option 6 the program will reply with a menu (figure 2.2) which makes it possible to see graphically the output results of a desired case.

Graphics menu

Choosing Option 6 in the main menu leads to the graphics menu, Fig. 2.2. Once in the graphics menu, graphs can be chosen to be displayed in the screen for review.

>> G	RAPHICS MENU <<
1	Reference configuration
2	Static cable tension
3	Max Min Tension
4	Max Min Displacements
5	Displacements
6	Velocities
7	Accelerations
8	Tension
9	Strain
Α	Tangential Forces
B	Transverse Forces
С	Cable Positions
D	Cable Envelop
Ε	Eigenmodes
Р	Plot out
Μ	Main Menu

Figure 2.2: Graphics Menu.

Example of displayed graph

In the screen a graph as the one shown in Fig 2.3 is displayed. Below each graph there are different alternatives to be chosen:

M = Menu means, press M to go to the main menu.

N = Next means press N to go to the next graph.

P = Previous means press P to go to the previous graph.

Space = Save Graph (N)

- By pressing space bar, alternately the N in Save Graph (N) changes to Y and Y changes to N. N stands for No and Y stands for Yes. To save a graph to a file choose Y. This file is not generated immediately. To generate it the option plot from the graphics menu must be chosen after all selected graphs have been saved. For further explanation, see the plot menu section below.
- T = Tables means, press T to see the values in table form.



Figure 2.3 Example of an option output from the graphics menu.

Plot menu

The P = plot out option in the graphics menu responds with a sub menu, Figure 2.4. From this, plot files can be generated in two different formats, PostScript and HPGL. The PostScript files can be plotted with a Laser printer with the DOS command COPY. The HPGL files can be imported into windows word processors.

Options 1 and 2 Options 3 and 4 save the graph only. save both the graph and the plot values in a separate text file with the same name as the input file but with the exension '.txt'.

>> PLOT MENU <<	
1 = Save Plot files in POSTSCRIPT	
format.	
2 = Save Plot files in HPGL format.	
3 = Save Plot files in POSTSCRIPT	
format	
and plot values in text file.	
4 = Save Plot files in HPGL format	
and plot values in text files.	

Figure 2.4 Plot Menu

The plot files are saved under the same name as the input file but with different extensions.

Filename.rxy :	Reference configuration in the xy plane.
Filename.rxz :	Reference configuration in the xz plane.
Filename.rzx :	R eference configuration in the zx plane.
Filename.ten :	Static cable ten sion.
Filename.mmt :	Maximum, minimum and standard deviation of the cable
	tension
<i>Filename</i> .dxy :	Maximum minimum and standard deviation of the
	displacement in the xy plane.
<i>Filename</i> .dxz :	Maximum minimum and standard deviation of the
	displacement in the xz plane.
<i>Filename</i> .dzx :	Maximum minimum and standard deviation of the
	displacement in the zx plane.
<i>Filename</i> .dxx :	Displacement plot files, where xx can be 01 to 10.
Filename.vxx :	Velocities plot files, where xx can be 01 to 05.
Filename.fxx :	Dynamic tension (force) plot files,
	where $\mathbf{x}\mathbf{x}$ can be 01 to 05.
Filename.sxx	Strain plot files, where xx can be 01 to 05.
Filename.txx:	Tangential forces plot files, where xx can be 01 to 05.
Filename.lxx:	Transversal (lateral) forces plot files,
	where $\mathbf{x}\mathbf{x}$ can be 01 to 05.
Filename.pxx	Cable positions plot files, where xx can be 01 to 20
Filename.exy	Cable envelop in the xy plane.
Filename.ev/	Cable envelop the xz plane.
Filename.ex	Cable envelop in the zx plane
Filename.exx	Eigenmode plot files, where $\mathbf{x}\mathbf{x}$ can be 01 to 50.

3 Input to MODEX

In the following section a complete description of the input file and the contained variables is given. It is possible to write the input file directly with a text editor, but it is recommended that the first input file for a series of calculations of a class of problems is written in the interactive mode as described in Chapter 2.2. The interactive input program will help in choosing variables and posing a numerically correct problem.

The file must be given in Data Groups as explained below. All values are given in free format.

- Data Groups number 1 to 5 are needed to perform a static calculation.
- Data Groups number 1 to 6 are needed for a calculation of eigenmodes and eigenperiods.
- Data Groups number 1 to 30 are needed to study time dependent load cases.

SI-units without prefixes (kg, m, s, N) are used consistently in the input file. (In the interactive input sometimes the prefix $M = 10^6$ is used for convenience.)

Data Group 1. Basic geometry and type of problem

STRING1 STRING2 XL1, XL2, ND, NS, ICASE, IEIG , IEXCIT

STRINGI	Identification of the problem or blank line		
STRING2	Explanation of the kind of data or blank line		
XL1	Horizontal co-ordinate (m) of the cable end at static equilibrium.		
XL2	Vertical co-ordinate (m) of the cable end at static equilibrium.		
	See Figure 3.1, 3.2, 3.3		
ND =	2 Two-dimensional calculation $Z = 0$.		
=	3 Three-dimensional eigenmode or dynamic calculation. The		
	cable is able to sway out of its plane of equilibrium Z=0. The		
	static equilibrium calculation is performed two-dimensionally		
	also when $ND = 3$.		
NS	Number of cable segments. The cable is divided into segments with		
	different properties. The numbering of the segments are shown in		
	Figure 3.3. NS \leq 20.		

- ICASE = 1 No sea floor, static analysis. (See Fig. 3.1)
 - = 2 No sea floor, dynamic calculation. The static equilibrium configuration (See Fig. 3.1) is used as the reference configuration.
 - = 3 With sea floor, static analysis. (See Fig. 3.2)
 - = 4 With sea, floor, dynamic calculation. The static equilibrium configuration (See fig. 3.2) is used as the reference configuration.
 - 5 With sea floor, submerged buoys, clump weights and/or one surface buoy, static analysis (See fig. 3.3).
 - With sea floor, submerged buoys, and/or clump weights, dynamic calculation. The static equilibrium configuration (See fig. 3.3) is used as the reference configuration. (No surface buoy.)
- IEIG = 0 if ICASE = 2, 4, 6
 - = k if ICASE = 1, 2, 5

 $0 < k \le$ number of degrees of freedom.

Then the k greatest eigenperiods with corresponding eigenmodes are calculated assuming small oscillations around the equilibrium configuration. Neither drag nor internal damping is taken into account.

- IEXCIT = 0 External excitation is given directly in Data Groups 12 to 14 in this file.
 - External displacement excitation in three dimensions is given for the uppermost node in one external file
 - External displacement excitation in three dimensions is given for the uppermost and lowermost node in two external files
 - = 3 For the uppermost node external displacement excitation in three dimensions is given in an external file, and external force excitation in the Y direction is given in another external file. The displacement excitation in the Y direction is not used. This option is suitable for the preliminary calculation of dynamics of TLPtendons or marine (taut) risers.

Department of Hydraulics

Lars Bergdahl Chalmers University of Technology **Restrictions on XL1 and XL2 and examples of configurations.**



Figure 3.1 Static equilibrium of the cable in the cases ICASE = 1 and 2 for co-ordinates XL1, XL2

In the case (ICASE = 1 and 2) shown in Fig. 3.1 the condition XL1 > 0 must hold. The cable is hanging in the plane defined by the co-ordinate axes X and Y



In the case (ICASE = 3 and 4) shown in Fig. $3.2 \times 1 + \times 12$ must be greater than the length of the unstretched cable. The cable is hanging in the plane defined by the co-ordinate axes X and Y, and is partly resting on the sea floor.



Figure 3.3 Static equilibrium of the cable in the cases ICASE = 5 and 6 for co-ordinates XL1, XL2.



Figure 3.4 Numbering of segments.

Comments on eigenfrequency analysis

In the case of ICASE = 3, the sea floor is simulated with linear springs. The stiffnesses of the springs are calculated by letting the cable sink a given vertical distance below the nominal level of the sea floor (Y = 0). See Data Group No 4. In the three-dimensional calculation of eigenmodes (also in the case of ICASE = 5) these spring constants are also used to suppress oscillations, that are transverse to the plane of equilibrium, along the sea floor.

The calculation of eigenmodes and eigenperiods are thus founded on a series of assumptions. The hydrodynamic drag has, for example, been shown to have great influence on the properties of the system. One should therefore not draw too farreaching conclusions from the calculated eigenmodes, as damped systems are being examined.

External excitation files, IEXCIT

If IEXCIT = 1 give on line 4 FILENAME1

else if IEXCIT = 2 or 3 give on line 4 and 5 FILENAME1 FILENAME2

- FILENAME1 The name of the external file where prescribed displacement excitation for the uppermost node is given.
- FILENAME2 The name of the external file where prescribed displacement or force excitation is given.

The values given in FILENAME1 always refer to the uppermost node of the cable.

The values given in FILENAME2 refers to the lowermost node of the cable if they are displacements or to the uppermost node if they are forces.

The external excitation files for displacements are freeformatted, contain the displacements and shall be organised as follows

Line No	Variable	Туре	Meaning
1	IDENTINP	String (A80)	Identification of input data
2	NTF	Integer	Number of time steps
3	DELTAT	Real	Time increment (sec)
4 etc.	PSX, PSY, PSZ	Real	NTF lines of displacements of node in
			X, Y and Z directions.

The external excitation files for force are freeformatted, contain one force in the Y direction (vertical) and shall be organised as follows:

Line No	Variable	Туре	Meaning
1	IDENTINP	String (A80)	Identification of input data
2	NTF	Integer	Number of time steps
3	DELTAT	Real	Time increment (sec)
4 etc.	F	Real	NTF lines of vertical force in upper
			attachment point in the Y direction.

Example of content of external file for three-dimensional displacements

File: RIG.DPL	. Spectrum typ	e: 1 Hs=10	Tz= 9.	RARG=0
900				
0.2				
-0.735200	1.37900	0.132900		
-0.659700	1.28800	0.146400		
-0.581000	1.19200	0.159200		
-0.499400	1.09300	0.171000		
-0.415200	0.989500	0.181800		
-0.328800	0.884300	0.191100		
-0.240500	0.777700	0.199000		
-0.150800	0.670500	0.205100		
-0.601200E-0	0.563700	0.209300		
0.308300E-0	0.458000	0.211300		
0.121500	0.354200	0.211200		
0.210900	0.253100	0.208700		
0.298700	0.155300	0.203800		
0.383700	0.614200E-0	0.196300		
0.465200	-0.278900E-0	0.186600		
0.542000	-0.112300	0.174400		
0.613600	-0.191300	0.160000		
0.679000	-0.264600	0.143600		
0.737100	-0.332200	0.125500		
0.787400	-0.393700	0.106000		
0.829100	-0.449000	0.854300E-0	1	
0.861600	-0 497900	0.642100E-0	1	
0.884600	-0.541200	0.0427700E-0	1	
0.897600	-0 578500	0.427700E-0	1	
0.900600	-0.610000	0.214100E-0	3	
0.200000	-0.636100	0.373000E-0	1	
0.877500	-0.657300	-0.195500E-0	1	
0.877500	-0.037300	-0.380700E-0	1	
0.832000	-0.073300	-0.333900E-0	1	
0.818000	-0.083000	-0.710100E-0	1	
0.770400	-0.092700	-0.800500E-0	1	
0.728000	-0.697000	-0.990100E-0	1	
0.674000	-0.69/900	-0.110600		
0.615300	-0.090100	-0.121000		
0.553300	-0.692100	-0.130300		
0.489000	-0.686600	-0.138800		
0.423600	-0.680100	-0.146500		
0.358100	-0.6/3100	-0.153800		
0.293600	-0.666400	-0.160600		
0.230900	-0.660400	-0.166900		
0.170800	-0.656000	-0.172900		
0.114000	-0.653900	-0.178200		
0.611700E-0	1 -0.654700	-0.182700		
0.126900E-0	1 -0.659100	-0.186200		
-0.310500E-0	01 -0.668200	-0.188200		
-0.697500E-0	01 -0.681400	-0.188500		
-0.103200	-0.700100	-0.186700		
-0.131000	-0.725700	-0.182400		
-0.153300	-0.756100	-0.175300		
-0.169700	-0.795200	-0.165400		
-0.180300	-0.839400	-0.152300		
etc.				

Data Group 2 Segment properties

For each segment I = 1, NS give: STRING DM, DENSC, EK, CCV, TLS, NES MBUOY, DBUOY, HI, DSBUOY, WB, FOB, FEK

The numbering of the cable segments is shown in Fig. 3.4. Each segment is divided into NES number of elements. The properties for each segment I is given by:

STRING	Explanation of the kind of data or blank line
DM	Cable mass per unit unstretched length (kg/m).
DENSC	Density of cable (kg/m^3) . For ICASE = 1 to 4 DENSC > DENS,
	where DENS is the density of water). Cases equivalent to ICASE 1 to
	4 can be run by ICASE 5 or 6 if the cable is lighter than the ambient
	water.
EK	Stiffness of cable (N). Elasticity times cross sectional area.
CCV	Internal damping of cable (Ns). See Appendix B
TLS	Unstretched length of segment (m).
NES	Number of elements in segment No I. Must be an even integer NES \geq
	2. The length of elements becomes TLS/NES (m). In the interactive
	input program the number of elements is given for the first segment.
	The number in the following segments are automatically calculated to
	give an optimal solution.
MBUOY	Mass of buoy or clump weight (kg).
DBUOY	Diameter of buoy or clump weight. This submerged buoy or clump
	weight is attached to the upper end of segment No I and is assumed to
	be spherical.
HI	Height (m) of surface buoy. If HI is set to zero, there is no surface
	buoy and the rest of the parameters will not be read. The dynamics of
	this buoy is not implemented (May 1996).
DSBUOY	Diameter (m) of cylindrical surface buoy. If DSBUOY is set to zero
	the surface buoy is assumed spherical with diameter HI.
WB	Mass of surface buoy (kg)
EOP	Length of attachment line (m) between the surface buoy and the cable
FER	Stiffness (N) of attachment line
FER	Summess (14) Of allachiment line.

Observe : Only one surface buoy can be given for the whole cable.

The total number of elements becomes $NE = \sum NES$ and the number of nodes NE+1.

The numbering of nodes and elements is shown in Fig. 3.5. The present arrays allow 96 elements.



Data Group 3 Parameters for numerical solution of static configuration

STRING DELL, EFAC

This data group is needed for the calculation of the static reference configuration.

STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line

DELL Defines the number of load increments 1/DELL, $0.0 < DELL \le 1.0$. The total effect of gravity will be gradually increased for 1/DELL number of load increments. Each load level is associated with an intermediate reference configuration. After the last load increment, the weight and buoyancy have reached their full values. For a cable with uniformly distributed mass and stiffness it is ordinarily sufficient to use DELL = 0.05 to 0.10. For a cable with segments with different properties a lower value is needed. DELL = 0.01 is usually sufficient, but also lower values must sometimes be used.

> In the latter case weight and buoyancy is applied with equal increments along the whole cable until the load on any one segment has reached its full value. Thereafter, this segment will not get further contributions but only the other segments until any one of these segments has reached its full load etc. The procedure is continued until the final equilibrium position is reached.

EFAC Fictitious elastic stiffness factor. At the first load increment the reference configuration is established from the equation of "inelastic or elastic catenary". In order to reach the next reference configuration smoothly it is necessary to give the cable an extra stiffness, which is applied as linear springs in the nodes. EFAC gives the stiffness of these springs in relation to the mean stiffness of the cable segments. The spring stiffnesses are all set to

$$\left(\frac{EFAC}{NE}\right)_{i=1}^{NE} \ \frac{K_{i}}{l_{i}}$$

where l_i is the length of elements and K_i the stiffness of elements. NE is the total number of elements. For a cable with equal element lengths, uniform mass and stiffness distribution EFAC = 0.01 has given converging solutions. The stiffnesses of the springs are reduced for each load increment and are nil when the cable reaches its equilibrium.

If there are <u>problems with the convergence a value greater than 0.01</u> should be used, in extreme cases EFAC = 1 has been used. If $XL1^2 + XL2^2 > TL^2$, EFAC can be given to zero.

If ICASE = 1 or 3, continue at Data Group 5.

Data Group 4 Stiffness of sea floor.

STRING BDIS

STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line

BDIS The sinking (m) of the cable below the nominal level of the sea floor (Y = 0) at vertical equilibrium. BDIS > 0.0 m. The stiffness of the sea floor is calculated from BDIS, and is applied as vertical and transverse linear springs in nodes resting on the sea floor. These springs are used in the static analysis and at the calculation of eigenperiods and eigenmodes.

Data Group 5 Water density

STRING DENS

STRINGExplanation of the kind of data or blank lineDENSDensity of water (kg/m³).

In the program the weight per unit length of the submerged cable is calculated as g*DM*(DENSC – DENS)/DENSC with DM and DENSC from Data Group No 2.



Data Group 6 Hydrodynamic coefficients and cable diameter

For each segment I = 1, NS give

STRING

CDN, CDT, CNM, DIAM, CDBUOY, CMBUOY

These lines give cable diameter and hydrodynamic coefficients for each cable segment and must, therefore, be as many as the number of segments NS according to Data Group No 2. For each segment give:

STRING	Explanation of the kind of data or blank line
CDN	Drag coefficient for transverse flow.
CDT	Drag coefficient for tangential flow.
CNM	Coefficient of added mass transverse to the cable.
DIAM	Cable diameter.
CDBUOY	Drag coefficient of the buoy (spherical)
CMBUOY	Coefficient of added mass of the buoy

The properties given in this data group are only used to calculate hydrodynamic forces. The added mass of the cable is for instance calculated as $CNM*\pi*DIAM^2/4$ for any segment be it steel rope, synthetic rope or chain. It is thus up to the user to

define consistent coefficients. For a rope the nominal diameter is normally used. Also for a chain the authors of this report have chosen to use the nominal diameter, and as the volume per unit of length of a steel chain is around $3.8*\pi*DIAM^2/4$ the coefficient of added mass is set to CNM = 3.8. Another convention could be to use the equivalent diameter for a cylinder containing all the steel of the chain and coupled to this CNM = 1.

Note that the tangential drag force per unit length of the cable is defined as :

CDT*DIAM*|UT|*UT,

where UT is the tangential relative velocity.

If IEIG > 0 and ICASE =1, 3 or 5 eigenmodes and eigenperiods can be calculated.

Data Group / Specification of steady current	Data Group 7	Specification	of steady	current
--	--------------	---------------	-----------	---------

STRING NST, TRS

STRING		Explanation of the kind of data or blank line		
NST	_	()	No specified current.	
	>	2	Number of points where the current is specified.	
TRS Reduction of current velocity acc		Reduct	non of current velocity according to Fig. 3.5 during a part	
		TRS (s	b) of the simulation time.	

Through this data group and the next one an oblique horizontal current can be imposed. The current is parallel to the sea bottom and is specified at vertical levels along the Y axis. The current must be given so that the cable at all times is between the outermost specified levels, because the used subroutine does not extrapolate the current velocities.



Т



If NST	= 0	continue	at	Data	Group
No 9.					

Data Group 8 Horizontal current velocities

STRING For I = 1, NST give: YST, (VST(J), J = 1, ND-1)

STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line

YST Level along the Y axis (m) where the current is specified. Must be given from below in increasing order with the lowest level at least BDIS (See Data Group 4) below the sea bottom and well below the lowest point of the cable motion, and well above the uppermost point of the cable motion.

VST(J) Current velocity (m/s) at the level YST. For a two-dimensional case (ND = 2) give VST(1) where VST(1) is the component in the direction X. For a three-dimensional case (ND = 3) give VST(1) and VST(2) where VST(2) is the component in the direction Z.

Data Group 9 Time integration data

STRING

DELT, TMAX, TS, TR, TVA, IPOL, NUPM

- STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line
- DELT Time increment (s). In order to get a stable calculation the time increment DELT must be smaller than the smallest value of lj/cj where lj is the element length and cj is the longitudinal celerity of elastic waves in cable segment No j. To get a good solution only half that time increment should be used. Thus the smallest value of
 - DELT = 0.5*TLS*SQRT(DM/EK)/NES

along the cable is recommended. (Notations at Data Group No 2). The interactive input program will help the user to choose time increment and element lengths so that approximately the same accuracy will be obtained for the segments.

- TMAX Time of simulation. The time integration is started at the time zero and is terminated at the time TMAX.
- TS Point of time at which exciting forces or displacements shall start (s). TS ≥ 0.0 . See Fig 3.7 at Data Group No 11.
- TR The length of time (s) during which the excitations are gradually increased to their full values. See Fig 3.6.
- TVA The point of time after which maxima, minima, standard deviations and mean values are calculated for demanded parameters. These characteristic values are calculated between TVA and TMAX.
- IPOL = 0 The drag forces are set to zero in the analysis even if drag coefficients are given in Data Group 6.
 - = 1 to 5 The drag forces are evaluated by integration along the elements. A greater number yields better accuracy. See comments below.
- NUPM causes the global mass matrix (including the added mass) to be updated each NUPM'th time increment. It can, at least for ND = 2, be given the value 1. At a three-dimensional analysis calculation efforts can be saved by assigning a higher value depending on the magnitude of the oscillations.

When the finite-element method is used the integrals (Eq. 3.18 and 3.19 in Lindahl, Sjöberg, 1983) that give the drag forces on the elements must be evaluated numerically. The integrals are evaluated with Newton-Cotes equation as given by

Harold et al. (1973). Values of IPOL > 0 indicate with which order of accuracy the integrals is evaluated. 1st order is equivalent to a linear interpolation between the nodes:

IPOL = 1 1st order approximation

= 2 1st " = 3 2nd " = 4 3rd " = 5 4th "

The evaluation of the integrals of te drag forces constitutes a considerable part of the calculation effort. The greater value of IPOL that is used the greater accuracy will be obtained for the same division into elements. This will, however, use considerably more computing time. Therefore it can be more efficient and equally accurate (as to drag forces) to choose shorter elements and a low value of IPOL. IPOL = 1 and 2 are numerically equivalent but IPOL = 1 is more efficiently coded. IPOL = 1 is recommended in combination with a rather dense division into elements. Then a better representation of the cable is also gained.

If ICASE = 2 continue at Data Group No 11

Data Group 10 Bottom friction.

STRING CFR, CVTOL

STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line

CFR Coefficient of friction between cable and sea floor.

CVTOL Tolerance (m/s) given in order to avoid numerical problems when the model of friction is used in time-domain dynamic analysis. The value 0.3 m/s has been used in most simulations and has recently proven to give results agreeing with frequency-domain analyses. (Liu and Bergdahl, 1997).

The model of friction has been changed somewhat in comparison to what was accounted for in Lindahl, Sjöberg (1983). See Appendix C. There is no bottom friction implemented in the static analysis.

Data Group 11Specification of excitation and compressional behaviour

STRING

NTF, NDF, NDP, NC, NSS

STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line

- NTF Number of points of time for which force or displacement excitations are specified. Both types must be specified at the same points of time. At most 500 points. Not used for excitation from external files although an arbitrary value must be given.
- NDF Number of specified exciting force functions in the nodes of the cable. At most 6 functions. Must be given also for excitation from external files.
- NDP Number of specified displacement functions in the nodes of the cable. At most 6 functions. Must be given also for excitation from external files.
- NC Number of nulled displacements in the nodes of the cable. At most 6 displacements. Must be given also for excitation from external files.
- NSS = 0 The internal forces in the cable are to follow assumed constitutive relations also for compression (staving).
 - 1 The internal forces are set to zero at compression (staving).

Forces or displacements can act in nodes of the cable.

Usually the displacements for a mooring cable are given to zero at the anchor i.e. node No 1 and to some functions of time at the fairlead i.e. node No NE+1. (For node numbering see Fig 3.4.) For a two-dimensional case then NC = 2 and NDP = 2.

It is rather meaningless to specify a displacement somewhere along the span of the cable, but this can be done. Calculation errors can result if the cable is prescribed to move below the sea floor.

By a specified exciting force is meant a force that is known prior to the analysis and that shall be added to other forces acting in the node (gravity, buoyancy, drag etc.). It is not permitted to specify an exciting force and an exciting displacement in the same direction in a node.

Specified forces and displacements are specified at NTF points of time TP(I). The points of time can thereafter be scaled to TC(I) = AMPT * TP(I) (Data Group 13) and the specified forces and displacements are assumed to vary linearly between the

"scaled" points of time. See Fig 3.6. Forces and displacements are specified in the data groups Nos. 14 to 17 or in external files, (See Data Group 1).

Specified forces or displacements commence at the point of time TS, and if the time of integration (TMAX) is greater than TS+TC(NTF) the functions will be repeated. For such cases periodic boundary conditions are obtained, and it is recommended that the specified displacements have the same values at the points of time TC(1) and TC(NTF). Otherwise discontinuous displacements are obtained, which causes calculation problems. The prescribed displacement need not be given the value zero at point of time TC(1), because the displacement (as a function of time obtained through data groups Nos. 16 to 17) can be gradually increased from zero by PS* TC/TR by giving a tapering time TR, so that an abrupt start is avoided. See Fig 3.6.





If NDF = 0 and NDP = 0 continue at Data Group No 19.

If IEXCIT > 0 continue at Data Group No 13

Data Group 12 Specification of time points

STRING TP(I), I = 1, NTF

STRINGExplanation of the kind of data or blank lineTP(I)The point of time (s) where force or displacement functions are

specified, given in increasing order.

Data Group	13 Scale factor for time
STRING	
AMPT	
STRING	Explanation of the kind of data or blank line
AMPT	Scale factor for the point of times given through Data Group No 12 or
	in external file. All points of time will be scaled to AMPT*TP(I). Use

AMPT = 1 if excitatio from external file.

If NDF = 0 continue at Data Group No 16

If IEXCIT > 0 continue at Data Group No 15

Data Group 14 Specification of forces

For J = 1, NDF give: STRING F(I,J), I = 1. NTF

STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line

F(I,J) The J'th specified force at the time level I. NDF number of force functions are specified. These are identified by the numbers J = 1 to NDF in the order they are given.

Data Group 15 Scale factor of forces

STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line For J= 1, NDF give: AMPF (J)

STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line

AMPF(J) Scale factor of the J'th force F(I,J). The force is scaled to AMPF(J)*F(I,J). Use AMPF = 1 if excitation from external file.

If NDP = 0 continue at Data Group No 18
Data Group 16 Specification of displacements

If IEXCIT > 0 Continue at Data Group No 17

For J = 1, NDP give: STRING PS(I,J), I = 1, NTF

STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line.

PS(I,J) The J'th specified displacement at the time level I. NDP number of displacements functions are specified. These are identified by the numbers J = 1 to NDP in the order they are given.

Data Group 17Scale factor for displacements

STRING For J = 1, NDP give: AMPP (J)

STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line.

AMPP(J) Scale factor for the J'th specified displacement. The displacement is scaled to AMPP(J) * PS(LJ).

If NDF = 0 continue at Data Group No 19

Data Group 18 Association of specified forces with nodes and directions

If IEXCIT > 0 continue at Data Group No 20

STRING

For K = 1, NDF give: I, J, ISF (I, J)

STRING	Explanation of the kind of data or blank line.
I	Node number.
J	Direction J, $J = 1, 2$ or $3, J = 1, 2, 3$ correspond to X, Y, Z-directions.
ISF(I, J) = L	$1 \le L \le NDF$. Indicates that the L'th force specified in Data Groups
	Nos. 14 and 15 shall act in node I direction J. The forces are numbered
	in the order they are given in data Group No 14.

If NDP + NC = 0 continue at Data Group No 20

Data Group 19Association of specified displacements with nodes and
directions

If IEXCIT > 0 continue at Data Group No 20

STRING For K = 1, NDP + NC give: I, J, ISP (I, J)

STRING	Explanat	ion of the kind of data or blank line
Ι	Node nur	mber I
J	Direction	J = 1, 2 or 3. $J = 1, 2, 3$ correspond to X, Y, Z directions.
ISP(I, J) =	0	Indicates that the component of the displacement in
		direction J should be zero for node No I.
=	L	1 < L < NDP. Indicates that in Node No 1 the component of
		the displacement in direction J should be prescribed with the
		L'th displacement function specified in Data Group Nos. 16
		and 17. The displacement functions are numbered in the order
		they are given in Data Group No 16.

Data Group 20 Request for plots

STRING IPLOT

STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line

IPLOT = 0 No plotting of variables as a function of time.

= 1 Plotting of variables as a function of time

If IPLOT = 0 continue at Data Group No 29

Data Group 21 Selection of parameters to be plotted

STRING

NAD, NAV, NAA, NAT, NAE, NADT, NADN, NJUMP, TPLOT

STRING	Explanation of the kind of data or blank line		
NAD	The number of node displacements that shall be plotted as functions of		
	time. At most 10 displacements.		
NAV	The number of node velocities that shall be plotted as functions of time.		
	At most 5 velocities.		
NAA	The number of node accelerations that shall be plotted as functions of		
	time. At most 5 accelerations.		
NAT	The number of element forces that shall be plotted as functions of time.		
	At most 5 forces.		
NAE	The number of element strains that shall be plotted as functions of time.		
	At most 5 strains.		
NADT	The number of tangential drag forces acting in the nodes that shall be		
	plotted as functions of time. At most 5 forces.		
NADN	The number of transverse drag forces acting in the nodes that should be		
	plotted as functions of time At most 5 forces.		
NJUMP	indicates that the variables should be plotted each NJUPM'th time		
	increment. At most 5000 values can be plotted for each variable.		
TPLOT	Point of time (s) when the plotting should start. TPLOT ≥ 0.0 .		

Data Group 22 Displacements

If NAD = 0 continue at Data Group No 23

STRING

For I = 1, NAD give:

IAD (I, 1), IAD (I, 2)

STRING	Explanation of the kind of data or blank line
IAD (I, 1)	Number of the node for which a plot of the displacement is wan
IAD (I, 2)	Number indicating the direction of the component i.e. 1, 2 or 3.

Data Group 23 Velocities

If NAV = 0 continue at Data Group No 24

STRING For I = 1, NAV give: IAV (I, 1), IAV (I, 2)

STRING	Explanation of the kind of data or blank line
IAV (I, 1)	Number of the node for which a plot of the velocity is wanted.
IAV (I, 2)	Number indicating the direction of the component i.e. 1, 2 or 3.

Data Group 24 Accelerations

If NAA = 0 continue at Data Group No 25

STRING For I = 1, NAA give: IAA (I, 1), IAA (I, 2)

- STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line
- IAA (I, 1) Number of node for which a plot of the acceleration is wanted.
- IAA (I, 2) Number indicating the direction of the component i.e. 1, 2 or 3.

wanted.

Data Group 25 Internal force

If NAT = 0 continue at Data Group No 26

STRING

For I = 1, NAT give: IAT (I)

STRING	Explanation of the kind of data or blank line
IAT(I)	Number of element for which a plot of the internal force is wanted.

Data Group 26 Strains

If NAE = 0 continue at Data Group No 27

STRING For I = 1, NAE give:

IAE (I)

STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line

IAE(I) Number of element for which a plot of the strain is wanted.

Data Group 27 Tangential drag for

If NADT = 0 continue at Data Group No 28

STRING

For I = 1, NADT give: IDT (I,1), IDT(I, 2)

STRING	Explanation	of the kind	of data	or blank line
--------	-------------	-------------	---------	---------------

IDT (I, 1) Number of node for which a plot of the tangential drag force is wanted.

IDT(I, 2) Number indicating the direction of the tangential drag force component i.e. 1, 2 or 3.

Data Group 28

Normal drag force

If NADN = 0 continue at Data Group No 29

STRING

For I = 1, NADN give: IDN(I,1), IDN(I,2)

STRING	Explanation of the kind of data or blank line
IDN (I,1)	Number of node for which a plot of the normal drag force is wanted.
IDN(I,2)	Number indicating the direction of the drag force component i.e. 1, 2 or 3.

Data Group 29Cable positions (Cable envelope)

STRING NGEM, IGEM (1), IGEM (2)

STRING	Explanation of the kind of data or blank line				
NGEM	The number of cable configurations that shall be plotted. At most 20.				
IGEM (1)	The first Node number in the chain of nodes that shall be plotted,				
	IGEM(1) > 0.				
IGEM (2)	The last Node number in the chain of nodes that shall be plotted				
	$IGEM(2) \leq NE + 1.$				

IGEM (1) and IGEM (2) indicate which part of the cable that shall be plotted. Several positions can be plotted in the same plot.

If NGEM = 0. End of input.

Data Group 30 Time instants for cable positions

STRING For I = 1, NGEM give: TGEM (I)

Through data groups Nos 29 and 30 one can order the plotting of NGEM number of positions that the cable has occupied at different points of time TGEM.

- STRING Explanation of the kind of data or blank line
- TGEM (I) Points of time for which the cable shall be plotted, shall be given in increasing order i. e. TGEM (I+1)>TGEM(I).

End of input.

4 Examples of Calculations

In order to demonstrate MODEX, three examples are accounted for below. The first example concerns a free hanging cable exposed to a current and with displacement excitation in both its ends. By free is understood that the cable is not in contact with the sea bottom. This cable is constituted by two segments with different properties.

In the second example a mooring cable is studied. The displacements are zero in one end (at the anchor). In the other end motions are prescribed which can be thought of as the motions of a fairlead during a storm. In this case the cable is in contact with the sea bottom over a considerable distance.

The third example is the lazy wave riser used as a test case in a comparison between analysis programs of flexible risers by ISSC, 1991 (See also Larsen, 1991). Here the program MODEX is used to perform a preliminary analysis ignoring the bending of the riser. The riser is excited by upper end displacements. The final analyses in ISSC were performed by the program MOBDEX which is developed from MODEX and comprises bending stiffness of the riser and wave kinematics for the relative accelerations and velocities.

4.1 Displacement-Excited Cable in a Current

Assume that a cable is hanging in equilibrium according to Fig. 4.1 at the time t = 0.



Figure 4.1 The equilibrium and reference configuration of the cable.

The cable is constituted by two segments of chain with data according to the following table.

Segment No 1

Unstretched length of the cable segment	=	500	m
Diameter d _o	=	0.076	m
Stiffness K	=	5 · 10 ⁸	Ν
Internal damping c	=	5.106	Ns
Mass per unit of unstretched length	=	135.35	kg/m
Density	=	7800	kg/m ³
Longitudinal drag coefficient C _{DT}	=	0.5	
Transverse drag coefficient C _{DN}	=	2.5	
Coefficient of added mass C _{MN}	=	3.8	

Segment No 2

Unstretched length of the cable segment	=	600	m
Diameter do	=	0.1	m
Stiffness K	=	9.1 ·10 ⁸	Ν
Internal damping c	=	9.1.106	Ns
Mass per unit of unstretched length	=	233.6	kg/m
Density	=	7800	kg/m ³
Longitudinal drag coefficient CDT	=	0.5	
Transverse drag coefficient C _{DN}	=	2.5	
Coefficient of added mass C _{MN}	=	3.8	
The density of water is set to	=	1000	kg/m ³ .

At times t > 0 the cable is exposed to a uniform current parallel to the X axis and by displacement excitations at both its ends.

The velocity of the current is assumed to grow from zero at the time t = 0 to the velocity 4 m/s at the time 2.5 s and is constant equal to 4 m/s for t > 2.5 s.

The excitations at the ends of the cable are periodic and are given for a period of T = 10 s. The excitations are assumed to start at t = 10 s and are gradually increased to their prescribed periodic functions during a quarter of a period that is 2.5 s or from t = 10 s to t = 12.5 s.

Segment No 1 is divided into ten elements and Segment No 2 into twelve segments. The length of the elements then becomes 50 m in both segments. Because no forces act transverse to the plane of equilibrium, the calculations are performed as twodimensional.

In the example we shall study the displacements in the X-direction in Node No 10 and the internal forces in Elements Nos. 10 and 22. These quantities are plotted. The prescribed motions in the cable ends are also plotted as a check of the input.

The calculations are performed during a time of simulation of 100 s with a time increment 0.01 s.

The following input is given to MODEX, and will be created by running the input program.

No sea floor, static analysis and dynamic calculation. Data Group 1. Geometry. 900.0000 300.0000 2 2 2 0 0 Data Group 2 Segment 1 Properties. 135.3500 7800.0000 0.50000E+09 0.50000E+07 500.0000 10 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000E+00 Data Group 2 Segment 2 Properties. 233.6000 7800.0000 0.91000E+09 0.91000E+07 600.0000 12 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000E+00 Data Group 3. Dell and Efac. 0.0200 0.0100 Data Group 5. Water density 1000.000 Data Group 6. Segment 1 Hydr. coeff., diam 2.5000 0.5000 3.8000 0.0760 0.0000 0.0000 Data Group 6. Segment 2 Hydr. coeff., diam 2.5000 0.5000 3.8000 0.1000 0.0000 0.0000 Data Group 7. Current and velocity reduction 2.5000 2 Data Group 8. Current level and velocity -1000.000 4.000 400.000 4.000 Data Group 9. Time increment, Time of simulation etc 0.0100 100.0000 10.0000 2.5000 12.5000 1 1 Data Group 11. Number of points of time etc. 21 0 4 0 1 Data Group 12. Points of time for force or displ. 0.0000 0.2500 0.5000 0.7500 1.0000 1.2500 1.7500 2.0000 2.2500 2.5000 2.7500 1.5000 3.5000 3.7500 4.2500 3.0000 3.2500 4.0000 4.7500 4.5000 5.0000 Data Group 13. Scale factor for the points of time 2.0000 Data Group 16. Function 1 Displacement 0.0000 0.6180 1.1756 1.6180 1.9022 2.0000 0.0000 1.1756 0.6180 -0.6180 1.9022 1.6180 -1.1756 -1.6180 -1.9022 -1.1756 -0.6180 0.0000 -2.0000 -1.9022 -1.6180 Data Group 16. Function 2 Displacement 2.0000 1.9022 1.6180 1.1756 0.6180 0.0000 -1.1756 -1.6180 -1.9022 -2.0000 -1.9022 -0.6180 -1.6180-1.1756-0.61801.61801.90222.0000 1.1756 0.0000 0.6180 -1.6180 Data Group 16. Function 3 Displacement 0.0000 0.6180 1.1756 1.6180 1.9022 1.9022 1.6180 1.1756 0.6180 0.0000 2.0000 1.9022 1.1756 -0.6180 -1.1756 -1.6180 -1.9022 -2.0000 -1.9022 -1.6180 -1.1756 -0.6180 0.0000 Data Group 16. Function 4 Displacement 2.0000 1.9022 1.6180 1.1756 0.6180 0.0000 -2.0000 -1.9022 -0.6180 -1.1756 -1.6180 -1.9022 -0.6180 0.0000 0.6180 1.1756 -1.1756 -1.6180 1.9022 2.0000 1.6180

Data Group 17. Scale factor for displacement. 2.0000 1.5000 2.0000 1.5000 Data Group 19. Node, direction, and displ. function. 1 1 1 2 1 2 23 1 3 23 2 4 Data Group 20. Plotting of variables. 1 Data Group 21. Number of nodes, elem. for plotting. 0 20 0.0000 5 0 0 2 0 0 Data Group 22. Num. of the node and dir. for displ. 1 1 1 2 23 1 23 2 10 1 Data Group 25. Number of element for internal force. 22 10 Data Group 29. Number configuration and interval. 5 1 23 Data Group 30. Point of time to plot configuration. 50.0000 55.0000 60.0000 65.0000 78.0000 End of the input file

The prescribed displacements at the ends of the cable are shown in Fig. 4.2 - 4.5.



Figure 4.2 Prescribed displacement in Node No 1 direction X



Figure 4.3 Prescribed displacement in Node No 1 direction Y



Figure 4.4 Prescribed displacement in Node No 23 direction X



Figure 4.5 Prescribed displacement in Node No 23 direction Y

The calculated displacement in Node No 10 direction X and the calculated forces in Element Nos. 10 and 22 are shown in Fig. 4.6 to 4.8.



Figure 4.6 The displacement in Node No 10 direction X.



Figure 4.7 The force in Element No 10.



Figure 4.8 The force in Element No 22.

The eigenmodes of the configuration have also been analysed and the first two in the plane of oscillation are shown in Fig 4.9 and 4.10.

The following input is given to MODEX, and will be created by running the input program.

No sea floor, static analysis, eigenperiods calculation Data Group 1. Geometry. 900.0000 300.0000 2 2 1 10 0 Data Group 2 Segment 1 Properties. 135.3500 7800.0000 0.50000E+09 0.50000E+07 500.0000 10 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000E+00 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 Data Group 2 Segment 2 Properties. 233.6000 7800.0000 0.91000E+09 0.91000E+07 600.0000 12 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000E+00 Data Group 3. Dell and Efac. 0.0200 0.0100 Data Group 5. Water density 1000.000 Data Group 6. Segment 1 Hydr. coeff.,diam 0.0000 2.5000 0.5000 3.8000 0.0760 0.0000 Data Group 6. Segment 2 Hydr. coeff.,diam 2.5000 0.5000 3.8000 0.1000 0.0000 0.0000



Figure 4.9. Eigenmode No 1 in X-Y Plane.



Figure 4.10. Eigenmode No 2 in X-Y Plane.

4.2 Displacement-Excited Mooring Cable

Assume that the cable is hanging in equilibrium according to Fig. 4.11 at the time t=0



Figure 4.11 The equilibrium and reference configuration of the cable.

The cable is constituted by one segment of chain with data according to the following

Unstretched length of the cable segment	=	1200	m
Diameter d _o	=	0.076	m
Stiffness K	=	5 ·10 ⁸	Ν
Internal damping c	=	0.0	Ns
Mass per unit of unstretched length	=	135.35	kg / m
Density	=	7800	kg / m ³
Longitudinal drag coefficient CDT	=	0.5	
Transverse drag coefficient C _{DN}	=	2.5	
Coefficient of added mass CMN	=	3.8	
Coefficient of friction between the cable and the sea floor	=	1.0	
Tolerance in the model of friction	=	0.3	m / s
The density of water	=	1000	kg / m ³

At times t > 0 periodically varying displacements are prescribed for the upper end of the cable with a period of T = 15 s. The displacements are assumed to start at t = 0 and are gradually increased to their prescribed periodic functions at t = 3.75 s. The cable is divided into 20 elements. The calculations are two-dimensional.

In this case we wish to plot the internal forces in Element No 1 and 20, and the vertical displacement in Node No 13. The prescribed displacements in the upper end of the cable are also plotted as a check on the input. We also wish to study the cable configurations in the vertical plane at the points of time t = 46, 49, 52, 55 and 58 s.

•

The following input is given to MODEX and will be created by running the input program.

```
With sea floor, static analysis and dynamic calculation.
Data Group 1. Geometry.
                       1 4 0 0
1183.790
        120.000 2
Data Group 2 Segment 1 Properties.
135.3500 7800.0000 0.50000E+09 0.00000E+00 1200.0000
                                                      20
 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000E+00
Data Group 3. Dell and Efac.
 0.0100 0.0100
Data Group 4. Sinking of the cable.
 0.1000
Data Group 5. Water density
1000.000
Data Group 6. Segment 1 Hydr. coeff., diam
 2.5000 0.5000 3.8000 0.0760 0.0000 0.0000
Data Group 7. Current and velocity reduction
 0.0000
Data Group 9. Time increment, Time of simulation etc
 0.0150 100.0000 0.0000 3.7500 10.0000 1
                                                 1
Data Group 10. Friction with sea floor and Tolerance
 1.0000 0.3000
Data Group 11. Number of points of time etc.
 21 0 2 2
                   1
Data Group 12. Points of time for force or displ.
 0.0000 0.2500 0.5000 0.7500 1.0000 1.2500
                                    2.5000 2.7500
 1.500
         1.7500
                  2.0000 2.2500
         3.2500
                  3.5000 3.7500 4.0000 4.2500
 3.0000
  4.500 4.7500
                  5.0000
Data Group 13. Scale factor for the points of time
  3.000
Data Group 16. Function 1 Displacement
 0.000 0.618: 1.1756 1.6180 1.9022
                                             2.0000
         1.61811.17560.61800.0000-0.61801.61811.9022-2.0000-1.9022-1.6180
 1.902.
 -1.175
                   .0000
          1.61-
 -1.175
          ...902. 1.6150 1.1756
1.175: ...6150
Data Group 14. Funda : 2 Displacement
        :.902.
                                    0.6180 0.0000
 2.0000
                                    -2.0000 -1.9022
 -0.6180
                  -1.6180
          1.17÷
                   . .0000
           1.901.
 1.6180
Data Grou; 17. Scale : actor for displacement.
  5.0800
  4.2500
Data Group 19. Nodel direction, and displ. function.
  1
    1
          0
     2
 1
          0
          1
 21
     1
 21 2
          -
```

Data Group 20. Plotting of variables. 1 Data Group 21. Number of nodes, elem. for plotting. 3 0 0 2 0 0 0 20 0.0000 Data Group 22. Num. of the node and dir. for displ. 21 1 21 2 13 2 Data Group 25. Number of element for internal force. 1 20 Data Group 29. Number of configurations and interval. 5 1 21 Data Group 30. Point of time to plot configuration. 46.0000 49.0000 52.0000 55.0000 58.0000 End of the input file

The prescribed displacement at the upper end of the cable is shown in Fig. 4.12 - 4.13.



Figure 4.12 Prescribed displacement in Node No 21 direction X.



Figure 4.13 Prescribed displacement in Node No 21 direction Y.

The vertical displacement in Node No 13 and the forces in Element Nos. 1 and 20 are shown in Fig. 4.14 to 4.16. Note that the cable is staved (compressive force) at times. We have in this case chosen to null (NSS = 1) the force in an element if the cable is compressed in this element.

In Fig. 4.17 the cable positions at different time instants in the vertical plane are shown. It is obvious how the cable is "buckled" due to the compressive internal force. Dynamically unstable conditions have occurred. The maximum force is, however, reliable and close to the one which is obtained with retained negative forces (NSS = 0) in the cable, as in a steel rope.



Figure 4.14 The vertical displacement of Node No 13..



Figure 4.15 Internal force in Element No 1



Figure 4.16 Internal force in Element No 20



Figure 4.17 Cable positions in the vertical plane.

The eigenmodes of the configuration have also been analysed and the first and the third one in the plane of oscillation are shown in Fig. 4.18 and 4.19.

The following input is given to MODEX, and will be created by running the input program.





Figure 4.18. Eigenmode No 1 in X-Y Plane.



Figure 4.19. Eigenmode No 3 in X-Y Plane.

4.3 Displacement-Excited Flexible Riser.

Assume that a riser is hanging in equilibrium according to Fig. 4.20 at the time t=0.



Figure 4.20 The equilibrium and reference configuration of the cable.

The riser is constituted by three segments with segments Nos. 1 and 3 of the same properties. The uppermost part of segment No 3 is above the mean water surface which is neglected in this calculation.

Segment No 1

Diameter d_0 = 0.2154 mStiffness K= $10 \cdot 10^6$ NInternal damping c= 0.0 NsMass per unit of unstretched length= 89 kg/mDensity= 2442.36 kg/m ³ Longitudinal drag coefficient CDT= 0.16 Transverse drag coefficient CDN= 1.0 Coefficient of added mass CMN= 1.0	Unstretched length of the cable segment	=	200	m
Stiffness K= $10 \cdot 10^6$ NInternal damping c= 0.0 NsMass per unit of unstretched length= 89 kg/mDensity= 2442.36 kg/m ³ Longitudinal drag coefficient C _{DT} = 0.16 Transverse drag coefficient C _{DN} = 1.0 Coefficient of added mass C _{MN} = 1.0	Diameter d ₁ ,	=	0.2154	m
Internal damping c= 0.0 NsMass per unit of unstretched length= 89 kg/mDensity= 2442.36 kg/m ³ Longitudinal drag coefficient CDT= 0.16 Transverse drag coefficient CDN= 1.0 Coefficient of added mass CMN= 1.0	Stiffness K	=	10.106	Ν
Mass per unit of unstretched length=89kg/mDensity=2442.36kg/m ³ Longitudinal drag coefficient C_{DT} =0.16Transverse drag coefficient C_{DN} =1.0Coefficient of added mass C_{MN} =1.0	Internal damping c	=	0.0	Ns
Density= 2442.36 kg/m ³ Longitudinal drag coefficient CDT= 0.16 Transverse drag coefficient CDN= 1.0 Coefficient of added mass CMN= 1.0	Mass per unit of unstretched length	=	89	kg/m
Longitudinal drag coefficient C_{DT} =0.16Transverse drag coefficient C_{DN} =1.0Coefficient of added mass C_{MN} =1.0	Density	=	2442.36	kg/m ³
Transverse drag coefficient C_{DN} = 1.0Coefficient of added mass C_{MN} = 1.0	Longitudinal drag coefficient CDT	=	0.16	
Coefficient of added mass $C_{MN} = 1.0$	Transverse drag coefficient CDN	=	1.0	
	Coefficient of added mass CMN	=	1.0	

Segment No 2

Unstretched length of the cable segment	=	91	m
Diameter d _o	=	0.5290	m
Stiffness K	=	5·10 ⁸	Ν
Internal damping c	=	0.0	Ns
Mass per unit of unstretched length		178	kg/m
Density	Ш	813.2	kg/m ³
Longitudinal drag coefficient CDT	=	0.16	
Transverse drag coefficient C _{DN}	=	0.82	
Coefficient of added mass C _{MN}	=	1.0	

Segment No 3

Unstretched length of the cable segment	=	360	m
Diameter d _o	=	0.2154	m
Stiffness K	=	10.106	Ν
Internal damping c	=	0.0	Ns
Mass per unit of unstretched length	=	89	kg/m
Density	=	2442.36	kg/m ³
Longitudinal drag coefficient CDT	=	0.16	
Transverse drag coefficient C _{DN}	=	1.0	
Coefficient of added mass C _{MN}	=	1.0	
			4
Coefficient of friction between the duble and the sea floor	=	1.0	

Coefficient of friction between the capie and the sea floor	=	1.0	
Tolerance in the model of triction	=	0.3	m/s
The density of water		1025	kg/m ³

The following input is given to MODEX and will be created by running the input program.

With sea floor, buoys, or clumpweights, static and dynamic analysis. Data Group 1. Geometri. 350.000 375.000 3 3 6 0 0 Data Group 2 Segment 1 Properties. 89.0000 2442.3600 0.10000E+08 0.00000E+00 200.0000 12 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000E+00 Data Group 2 Segment 2 Properties. 178.0000 813.2000 0.10000E+08 0.00000E+00 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 91.0000 8 0.0000 0.00000E+00 Data Group 2 Segment 3 Properties. 89.0000 2442.3600 0.10000E+08 0.00000E+00 360.0000 22 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000E+00 Data Group 3. Dell and Efac. 0.0100 0.0400 Data Group 4. Sinking of the cable. 0.1000 Data Group 5. Water density 1025.000 Data Group 6. Segment 1 Hydr. coeff., diam 1.0000 0.1600 1.0000 0.2154 0.0000 0.0000 Data Group 6. Segment 2 Hydr. coeff.,diam 0.8200 0.1600 1.0000 0.5290 0.0000 Data Group 6. Segment 3 Hydr. coeff.,diam 1.0000 0.1600 1.0000 0.2154 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 Data Group 7. Current and velocity reduction 0 0.0000 Data Group 9. Time increment, Time of simulation etc 0.0150 100.0000 0.0000 3.7500 10.0000 1 1 Data Group 10. Friction with sea floor and Tolerance 1.0000 0.3000 Data Group 11. Number of points of time etc. 21 0 2 2 1 Data Group 12. Points of time for force or displ. 1.2500 0.0000 0.2500 0.5000 0.7500 1.0000 2.7500 1.7500 2.5000 1.5000 2.0000 2.2500 3.25003.50004.75005.0000 3.0000 3.2500 3.7500 4.0000 4.2500 4.5000 Data Group 13. Scale factor for the points of time 3.0000 Data Group 16. Function 1 Displacement 0.0000 0.6180 1.1756 1.6180 1.9022 2.0000 1.9022 1.6180 1.1756 0.6180 0.0000 -0.6180 -1.1756 -1.6180 -1.9022 -2.0000 -1.9022 -1.6180 -1.1756 -0.6180 0.0000 Data Group 16. Function 2 Displacement 0.6180 0.0000 2.0000 1.9022 1.6180 1.1756 -1.9022 -2.0000 -1.9022 -0.6180 -1.1756 -1.6180 -0.6180 0.0000 -1.1756 0.6180 1.1756 -1.6180 1.6180 2.0000 1.9022 Data Group 17. Scale factor for displacement. 5.0800 4.2500

Data Group 19. Node, direction, and displ. function. 1 1 Data Group 20. Plotting of variables. Data Group 21. Number of nodes, elem. for plotting. 5 5 5 5 5 5 20 0.0000 Data Group 22. Num. of the node and dir. for displ. Data Group 23. Num. of the node and dir. for veloc. Data Group 24. Num. of the node and dir. for accel. Data Group 25. Number of element for internal force. Data Group 26. Number of element for strain. 2.0 Data Group 27. Num. of the node and dir. tang force. Data Group 28. Num. of the node and dir. tran force. Data Group 29. Number configuration and interval. Data Group 30. Point of time to plot configuration. 46.0000 49.0000 52.0000 55.0000 78.0000 End of the input file



Figure 4.21 Prescribed displacement in Node No 55, direction X.



Figure 4.22. Prescribed displacement in Node No 55, direction Y.



Figure 4.23. The horizontal displacement of Node No 21.



Figure 4.24. The vertical displacement of Node No 21.



Figure 4.25. Maximum, minimum, mean, and mean +/- standard deviations of cable tensions.

The three-dimensional eigenmodes of the configuration have also been analysed and the first two are shown in Fig 4.26 and 4.27.

The following input is given to MODEX and will be created by running the input program.

With sea floor, buoys, or clumpweights, static analysis, eigen periods. Data Group 1. Geometri. 350.000 375.000 3 3 5 3 0 Data Group 2 Segment 1 Properties. 89.0000 2442.3600 0.10000E+08 0.00000E+00 200.0000 12 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000E+00 Data Group 2Segment 2Properties.178.0000813.20000.10000E+080.0000E+000.00000.00000.00000.0000 91.0000 8 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000E+00 Data Group 2 Segment 3 Properties. 89.0000 2442.3600 0.10000E+08 0.00000E+00 360.0000 22 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000E+00 Data Group 3. Dell and Efac. 0.0100 0.0400 Data Group 4. Sinking of the cable. 0.1000 Data Group 5. Water density 1025.000 Data Group 6. Segmen: 1 Hydr. coeff., diam

 1.0000
 0.1600
 1.0000
 0.2154
 0.0000

 Data Group 6. Segment 2 Hydr. coeff.,diam
 0.8200
 0.1600
 1.0000
 0.5290
 0.0000

 Data Group 6. Segment 3 Hydr. coeff.,diam
 1.0000
 0.5290
 0.0000
 0.0000

 End of the input file



MODEX Version 3

Figure 4.26 Eigenmode No 1, transverse eigenmode, projected on X-Z Plane.



Figure 4.27 Eigenmode No 2. in-plane eigenmode, projected on X-Y Plane.

REFERENCES

Bathe, K.J. and Wilson E.L.: Numerical Methods in Finite Element Analysis. Prentice-Hall,Inc., Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey (1976).

Bergdahl, L.: Dynamics of Mooring Cables. The Scandinavian Shipping Gazette, No 40, 1994.

Bergdahl, L. and Rask, I.: Dynamic versus Quasi-Static Design of a Catenary Mooring System. Offshore Technology Conference, Houston, April 27-30, 1987.

Johansson, P.I.: A Finite Element Model for Dynamic Analysis of Mooring Cables. Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Ph.D. Thesis (Jan. 1976).

Kawashima, S. and Kimura, H.: Measurements of the Internal Friction of Metal Wires and Metal Wire Ropes through the Longitudinal Vibration. Mem. Fac. Engr. Kyushu University, 13(1), 1952.

Liu, Y. and Bergdahl, L. Influence of Current and Seabed Friction on Mooring Cable Response, Submitted for publication in Engineering Structures, 1996.

Harold C, Martin Graham, Carey F, McGraw Hill, introduction to Finite Element Analysis. 1973.

ISSC, Proceedings of the 11th International Ship and Offshore Structures Congress, Vol. 2, Committee V.7 : Slender Marine Structures, pp. 301-306, Wuxi 1991.

Larsen, C. M.: Flexible Riser Analysis -- Comparison of results from Computer Programs, Marine Structures, Vol. 5, 1992.

Lindahl, J.: Implicit numerisk lösning av rörelseekvationerna för en förankringskabel. (Implicit numerical solution of the equations of motion of a mooring cable). Dep. of Hydraulics, Chalmers University of Technology, Report A:11, 1984.

Lindahl, J.: Modellförsök med en förankringskabel. (Model experiments with a mooring cable). Dep. of Hydraulics, Chalmers University of Technology, Report A:12, 1985.

Lindahl, J. and Sjöberg, A.: Dynamic Analysis of Mooring Cables. Dep. of Hydraulics, Chalmers University of Technology, Report A:9, 1983.

Liu, Yungang and Bergdahl, Lars: (1997) Influence of current and seabed friction on mooring cable response. Accepted for publication in Engineering Structures 3 Dec. 1996.

Oppenheim, B.W and Wilson, P.A : Static 2-D Solution of a Mooring line of Arbitrary Composition in the Vertical and Horizontal Operating Modes. International Shipbuilding Progress, Vol. 29, No 334, June 1982.

APPENDIX A

A.1 Flow Chart

The main program for the explicit time integration is MODEX. In this appendix a flow chart for the program is shown. Short descriptions of the subroutines are given in A.2.



Figure A.1 Flow chart for MODEX.

Department of Hydraulics

Göteborg

A2. Description of Main Program and Subroutines.

MODEX Is a main program. It reads and writes input data and governs the calculations. With this main, static equilibrium, dynamic simulations and eigenmodes can be calculated.

The dynamic simulations can be two- or three-dimensional and are performed by explicit time integration.

- STATIC Subroutine for the calculation of the static equilibrium. Calculates loads in the nodes of the cable and governs the static calculation by iterations and check of convergence of the solution. Gives output from the static calculation.
- GEM0 Calculates a first reference configuration for STATIC, when $\sqrt{XL1^2 + XL2^2} \ge$ the unstretched length of the cable. The first reference configuration in this case is a straight line.
- GEM1 Calculates a first reference configuration for STATIC, when $\sqrt{XL1^2 + XL2^2}$ < the unstretched length of the cable, if the cable is not affected by the sea floor. The first reference configuration is then given by the inelastic catenary.
- GEM2 Calculates a first reference configuration for STATIC when $\sqrt{XL1^2 + XL2^2}$ < the unstretched length of the cable and the cable is partly resting on the sea floor. The first reference configuration is given by the inelastic catenary and a straight line along the sea floor.
- GEM3 A more complete subroutine for the preliminary reference configuration. This subroutine can handle cables (risers) with submerged buoys and clump weights and with densities lower than that of the water. An elastic catenary is used. (Oppenheim and Wilson, 1982)
- FORM Forms the stiffness matrix of the static calculation in STATIC.
- COLSOL Subroutine for the solution of a banded matrix. Taken from Bathe and Wilson (1976).
| RESIDS | Calculates the unbalanced forces during the iterations in STATIC. |
|---------|--|
| EIGEN | Subroutine that calculates the eigenperiods and eigenmodes. |
| FORMK | Forms the stiffness matrix for the calculations in EIGEN. |
| FORMM | Forms the mass matrix for the calculations in EIGEN. |
| JACOBI | Solves the eigenvalue problem with Jacobi iterations. Taken from Bathe and Wilson (1976). |
| TIMEX3 | Subroutine for dynamic calculation by explicit integration. Governs
the numerical integration, calculates forces, mass matrices etc. as
functions of time. |
| DRAG | Calculates drag forces in the nodes of the cable for TIMEX3 when $IPOL = 2, 3, 4$ and 5. |
| DRAGI | Calculates drag forces in the nodes of the cable for IPOL=1. |
| OUTPUT | Gives output of data computed by TIMEX3 to the file " *.OUT"
Stores fields for plotting of time dependent variables. |
| OUTG | Stores fields for the plotting of the cable configuration at different points of time. |
| HORDIS | Iterates the horizontal upper end co-ordinate of the cable by varying
the horizontal force |
| KONCAB | Calculates the cable tension in the ends of each segment from the elastic catenary. |
| KONCAB2 | Calculates the cable tension in the ends of each element from the elastic catenary. |
| CABLE | Calculates the horizontal upper end co-ordinate of the cable for given horizontal force and vertical co-ordinate. |

FUX	Calculation of relative X-position of right hand side of segment or element.
FUY	Calculation of relative Y-position of right hand side of segment or element.
BUOYF	Calculation of buoyancy force of the surface buoy.
BUOYK	Calculation of total stiffness of buoy with pendant line for addition to FORMK in EIGEN.
INDATA	Pre-processor to edit and generate input to the program.
DIA	Subroutine module that handles the monitoring of the graphs.
PLOT	Subroutine module that generates the plot files.

APPENDIX B Internal Damping of the Cable in MODEX

Lindahl and Sjöberg (1983) defined the reaction force T of the cable in its longitudinal direction as

$$T = K\tilde{\epsilon} (1+\epsilon) \cong K\epsilon \qquad (\epsilon << 1)$$

$$\tilde{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial s_0} \right)^2 - 1 \right) \qquad \dots (B \ 1)$$

$$\epsilon = \frac{\partial s}{\partial s_0} - 1$$

Where ε and $\tilde{\varepsilon}$ are measures of the strain of the cable in its longitudinal direction and where K is the stiffness of the cable (cross sectional area times elasticity). When strained, elastic energy is stored in the cable, and this can be lost through drag forces, but not through internal damping in the cable itself, and this is a deficiency of the model of Eq. (B1). such a purely elastic material model can sometimes give rise to superposed longitudinal waves of artificial amplitude, which especially can be noticed after an occasion with slack in the cable, when the cable is stretched again. In order to get a more realistic model for the reaction forces a damping force T_c has been introduced in MODEX.

$$T_{c} = c\dot{\epsilon} \qquad \dots (B2)$$

where T_c is parallel to T and c (Ns) is a constant depending on the internal damping of the cable and $\dot{\epsilon}$ (s⁻¹) is the rate of strain of the cable. If Eq. (B1) and (B2) are added the total reaction force T_t is :

$$T_{t} = K\tilde{\epsilon} (1+\epsilon) + c\dot{\epsilon} \qquad \dots (B3)$$

With Eq. (B 3) as the material model one can show that the internal forces of the cable give the following contribution to the loads in the nodes :

$$\underline{F} = \sum_{j=1}^{n_r} \underline{\underline{C}}_j^T \int_0^1 \left(\frac{K\widetilde{\varepsilon}_j}{l_j} + \frac{c\dot{\widetilde{\varepsilon}}_j}{(1+2\widetilde{\varepsilon}_j)l_j} \right) \underline{\underline{G}} \underline{\underline{r}}_j dx_j \qquad \dots (B4)$$

Department of Hydraulics

Eq. (B 4) should be compare to Eq. (3.20) in Lindahl, Sjöberg (1983). The rate of strain of the element becomes

$$\dot{\tilde{\varepsilon}} = \underline{r}_{J}^{T} \underline{G} \ \underline{\dot{p}}_{J} \qquad \dots (B 5)$$

Kawashima and Kimura (1952) (as cited by Johansson 1976) report values on the internal friction of wire cables per unit cross sectional area to be about $c_c = 1.5 \cdot 10^7$ Ns/m² and the constant c of Eq. (B 2) to (B 5) would then be

$$\mathbf{c} = \mathbf{c}_{c} \cdot \mathbf{A}_{p} \qquad \dots (\mathbf{B} \mathbf{6})$$

where A_0 is the nominal cross sectional area of the wire cable. Lindahl (1984) uses the value $c = 5 \cdot 10^6$ Ns for a chain with the diameter $d_0 = 0.076$ m. In this case the internal friction per unit cross sectional area would be $c_c = 2c / \pi d_0^2 = 5.5 * 10^8 \text{ Ns/m}^2$

(The information in Appendix B is taken from Lindahl (1984) with small changes.)

APPENDIX C

Friction Between the Cable and the Sea Floor in MODEX

By reasons similar to those in Appendix B the explicit model described by Lindahl and Sjöberg (1983) has been modified with respect to friction between the cable and the sea floor. At the tightening up after an occasion with slack a longitudinal transient with artificially high elastic waves is calculated if damping is not introduced in the longitudinal direction of the cable. The friction model described by Lindahl and Sjöberg (1983) was used only transverse to the cable, which is sufficient in many cases, but the now implemented model is better.

Assume that a node, k, is moving along the sea floor $r_2^{(k)} \equiv 0$ with the velocity $\dot{p}_1^{(k)}$ in the X-direction and $\dot{p}_3^{(k)}$ in the Z-direction. Introduce a friction force $\underline{F}_{f} = (F_{f1}, F_{f3})^{T}$ with is parallel to the velocity vector but with the opposite direction. F_{f1} = the X-component of the frictional force and F_{f3} the Z-component.

The frictional force \underline{F}_i is assumed to be linearly viscous for velocities $\dot{p}_a < c_v$ but constant and equal to $\mu | R_{k}^{(1)} |$ for $\dot{p}_{a} > c_{v}$.

$$\dot{p}_{a} = \sqrt{(\dot{p}_{1}^{(k)})^{2} + (\dot{p}_{1}^{(k)})^{2}} \qquad ...(C1)$$

$$R_{k}^{(k)} = \text{resultant of weight and buoyancy in node No k.}$$

$$\mu = \text{coefficient of friction between the cable and the sea floor.}$$

= coefficient of friction between the cable and the sea floor.

= Velocity along the seabed when full friction is developed, given in C_v order to avoid numerical problems when the model of friction is used time-domain dynamic analyses. Equal to CVTOL in Data in Group 10.

The model becomes as follows:

$$F_{f1} = -\frac{p_{\mu}^{(k)}}{p_{\mu}} \mu \mid \underline{R}, \qquad \dots (C2)$$

$$F_{f3} = -\frac{p_{\mu}^{(k)}}{p_{\mu}} \mu \mid \underline{R}_{(k)}^{(1)} \mid \qquad \dots (C3)$$

if

 $\dot{p}_{a} > c_{a}$



Figure C1. The frictional force as a function of node velocity

The frictional force \underline{F}_{1} is added to the forces $P_{1}^{(k)}$ and $P_{3}^{(k)}$ which are the resultant forces received at contact with the sea floor under the condition $r_{2}^{(k)} \equiv 0$ and $\dot{p}_{2}^{(k)} \equiv 0$

The total forces in the node are

$$P_{1}^{*(k)} = P_{1}^{*(k)} + F_{1} \qquad \dots (C7)$$

$$P_{3}^{*(k)} = P_{3}^{*(k)} + F_{1} \qquad \dots (C8)$$

The Eq. (3.26) in Lindahl. Sjöberg (1983) is transformed into

$$\begin{bmatrix} \ddot{p}_{1}^{(k)} \\ 0 \\ \ddot{p}_{3}^{(k)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} c_{1} & c_{2} & c_{3} & P^{-k} \\ c_{1} & c_{2} & c_{3} & P^{-k} \\ c_{1} & c_{3} & c_{3} & P^{-k} \end{bmatrix} \qquad \dots (C9)$$

from which $P_2^{*(k)}$ can be solved:

Göteborg

$$P_{2}^{*(k)} = -\frac{1}{c_{22}} (c_{12} P_{1}^{*(k)} + c_{23} P_{3}^{*(k)}) \qquad \dots (C \ 10)$$

The effect of the frictional forces are seen clearly if Fig. 4.15 and Fig. 4.16 in paragraph 4.2 are compared. The former figure shows the force close to the anchor and the latter figure the force at the upper end of the cable. The former contains almost no oscillations of high frequency. In the example the internal damping was set to zero.

The value 0.3 m/s has been used in most simulations and has recently proven to give results agreeing with frequency-domain analyses. (Liu and Bergdahl, 1997)

the second s

Publications of the Dept. of Hydraulics, Chalmers

A. Doctoral dissertations

Moberg, G.: Wave Forces on a Vertical Slender Cylinder. 1988. Report A:16 Nilsdal, J-A: Bedömning av

översvämningsrisken i dagvatten-system. Kontrollberäkning med typregn. 1988. Report A:18

Johansson, M.: Barrier-type Breakwaters. Transmissions, Reflection and Forces. 1989. Report A:19

Perrusquía, G.: Bedload Transport in Storm Sewers. Stream Traction in Pipe Channels. 1991. Report A:22

Lei, A., X.: Dynamic Characteristics of Floating Breakwaters. 1996. Report A:26

B. Licentiate essays

Johansson, M.: Transient Motions of Large Floating Structures. 1986. Report A:14 Mårtensson, N., Bergdahl, : On the Wave Climate of the Southern Baltic. 1987. Report A:15

Perrusquía, G.: Part-full Flow in Pipes with a Sediment Bed. Part one: Bedform dimensions. Part two: Flow resistance. 1988. Report A:17 **Rankka, W.:** Estimating the Time to Fatigue Failure of Mooring Cables. 1989. Report A:20 **Olsson, G.**: Hybridelementmetoden, en metod för beräkning av ett flytande föremåls rörelser. 1990. Report A:21

Berggren, Larry: Energy Take-out from a Wave Energy Device. A Theoretical Study of the Hydrodynamics of a Two Body Problem Consisting of a Buoy and a Submerged Plate. 1992. Report A:23

Forsberg, Jan: Strömning i ett styrbart sidoöverfall, 1995. Report A:24

Gustafsson, L-G: Utveckling och tillämpning av en konceptuell avrinningsmodell för urban hydrologi. 1995. Report A:25

C. Papers to International Scientific Journals

- Berggren, L & Johansson, M.: Hydrodynamic coefficients of a wave energy device consisting of a buoy and a submerged plate. <u>Applied Ocean Research</u>, Vol. 14, No 1, 1992.
- Lyngfelt, S.: Base catchment modelling in urban runoff simulation. <u>Nordic</u> <u>Hydrology</u>, Vol. 22, No. 3, 1992.

- 3 Lyngfelt, S.: An improved rational method in urban runoff application. <u>Nordic</u> Hydrology, Vol. 22, No. 3, 1992.
- 4 Sulisz, W. & Johansson, M.: Secondorder wave diffraction of a surfacepiercing horizontal cylinder of substantial draught. <u>Applied Ocean Research</u>, Vol. 14, No. 6, 1992.
- 5 Björkenstam, U & Lei, X.: Wave loading on multiple floating bodies. <u>Inter-national</u> <u>Shipbuilding Progress</u>, 38, No. 416, pp. 361-391, 1992.

Perrusquía, G.: An experimental study on the transport of sediment in sewer pipes with a permanent deposit. <u>Water</u> <u>Science and Technology, IAWPRC</u>, Vol. 25, No. 8, 1992.

- 6 Berggren, L., & Sjöström, B-O.: Energy from ocean waves: a review. In <u>Power</u> <u>Generation Technology, The International</u> <u>Review of Primary Power Production</u>. (Ed. David A Jones), Sterling Publ. Ltd., 1994
- 7 Sulisz, W.: Stability analysis for multilayered rubble bases. Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal, and Ocean Engineering, Vol. 120, No. 3, May June 1994.
- 8 Perrusquía, G.: Influence of sewer sediments on flow friction and bed shear stress distribution", <u>Water Science and</u> <u>Technology</u>, IAWQ, London, England. (In print.)
- 9 Perrusquía, G.: Hydraulic resistance in part-full pipes with a composite roughness" (Submitted for review and possible publication to Journal of Hydraulic Engineering, ASCE)
- 10 Perrusquía, G., & Mark, O. Predictions of locations with sediment deposits in sewers, <u>Water Sicence and Technology</u>, IAWQ, U.K. (in print) 1995,
- 11 Perrusquía, G., & Nalluri, C. Modelling of sediment trasport ni pipe channels. Journal of Hydrology and <u>Hydromechanics.</u> Czech Republic, (in print) 1995.

D. Papers at international conferences and workshops

- 1 Berggren, L. & Bergdahl, L.: Forces on a wave energy module. The third symposium on ocean wave energy utilisation, Tokyo, Japan, 1991.
- 2 Häggström, S.: Project oriented and "traditional" education at the School of Civil Engineering at Chalmers University of Technology. Presented at Transfer of Technologies 2000, Prague, Czechoslovakia, Sept. 1991.
- 3 Perrusquía, G.: Bedload transport in storm sewers. First International Workshop on Sewer Sediments, Brussels, Belgium, 4-6 Sept. 1991.
- 4 Perrusquía, G.: Sediment transport in sewer pipes in stream traction. Study Day on Sediment Transport, Katholieke Universiteit, Leuven, Belgium, 3 March, 1992.
- 5 Perrusquía, G.: Physical modelling of sand transport in sewers. International Workshop on Environmental Hydraulics and Sediment Transport. Aalborg University, Denmark, 10 April, 1992.
- 6 Lei, X. & Bergdahl, L.: Hydrodynamic properties of multiple floating and submerged bodies analysed by a panel method. Boundary Elements in Fluid Dynamics, Southampton, U.K., 29-30 April, 1992.
- Bergdahl, L.: Review of research in Sweden. In Energy. Wave Energy R & D. Proceedings of a workshop held at Cork, 1 and 2 October 1992. (Eds. G. Caratti, A T Lewis, D. Howett).(CEC DGXII.E.3)
- 8 Sulisz, W.: Numerical modelling of the stability of rubble bases. Proceedings. 23rd Coastal Engineering Conference. ASCE, New York, pp 1798-1803, 1992.
- 9 Häggström, S. & Johansson, G.: Recent changes in civil engineering education at Chalmers University of Technology. Proceedings of the Conference: Innovation and Change in Civil Engineering Education, Belfast, Northern Ireland. 19-21 April, 1993.
- 10 Lei, X., & Bergdahl. L.: Dynamic response of linked, moored, floating structures. The Eighth International Workshop on Water Waves and Floating Bodies. St. John's, Newfoundland. 23-26 May 1993.
- Perrusquía, G.: "Sediment transport in storm sewers with a permanent deposit", Proceedings, Sixth International Conference on Urban Storm Drainage,

Niagara Falls, Canada, 12-17 September 1993.

- 12 Sjöström, B-O: Technocean AB. The past, present and future of hose-pump wave energy converter. Proceedings. 1993 European Wave Energy Symposium. Edinburgh, Scotland, 21-24 July 1993.
- 13 Perrusquía, G.: "Influence of sewer sediments on flow friction and bed shear distribution", specialized International Conference "The Sewer as a Physical, Chemical and Biological Reactor", Aalborg, Denmark, 15-18 May 1994.
- 14 Gustafsson, L-G. Using a 3-D distributed physically based model in urban hydrology. Submitted to WEFTEC'95, 68th Annual Conference & Exposition, Miami Beach, USA, October 21-25. 1995.
- 15 Perrusquía, G. & Nalluri, C. Modelling of bedload transport in pipe channels, Proceedings, 8th International Conference on Transport and Sedimentation of Solids, Prague, Czech Republic, Jan. 1995.
- 16 Bergdahl, L., & Mårtensson, N. Certification of wave-energy plants -Discussion of existing guidelines, expecially for mooring design, Second European Wave Power Conference, 8-10 Nov., 1995, Lisbon, Portugal.
- 17 Nielsen, K., Holmes, B., & Berggren, L. On the tank testing of off-shore wave power converters. Second European Wave Power Conference, 8-10 Nov., 1995. Lisbon, Portugal.
- 18 Berggren, L., & Bergdahl, L. Timedomain simulation of a single wave-energy converter. Second European Wave Power Conference, 8-10 Nov., 1995, Lisbon, Portugal.

E. Other reports from the Department of Hydraulics Report Series B

- B:53 Lyngfelt, S.: Simulering av ytavrinning i dagvattensystem. 1991.
- B:54 Lyngfelt, S. Two papers on Urban Runoff Modelling. Base catchment modelling in urban runoff simu-lation and An improved rational method for urban runoff application. 1991.
- B:55 Perrusquía, G.: Sediment transport in pipe channels. Postdoctoral experimental studies. December 1991 -April 1992.
- B:56 Nordisk möte om bölgeenergi, Hanstholm, 8-9 maj, 1992.

- B:57 **Perrusquía, G.:** "An experimental study from flume to stream traction in pipe channels", 1993.
- B:58 Activity Report 1992
- B:59 Activity Report 1994
- B:60 Asztély, M.; Literature review of energy losses in manholes. 1995.
- B:61 Lindvall, G.: Energy losses at manholes. Lab. measurements at nonstationary flow. 1996.
- B:62 Bergdahl, L MODEX User's Manual. Version 3. 1996

Report Series C

- C:35 Johansson, M.: RECT A radiation diffraction program for the analysis of floating breakwaters with rectangular cross-section. G-Göteborg, 1991.
- C:36 Johansson, M.: SHELF A diffraction program for the analysis of a barrier-type breakwater with rectangular cross-section and a protruding shelf facing the incident waves. Goteborg, 1991.
- C:37 Johansson, M.: HYB2D A radiation diffraction program for the analysis of floating breakwaters. Goteborg, 1991.
- C:38 **Perrusquía, G.:** Sediment in sewers -1. Flow capacity of sewers with a sediment bed. 2. Flow resistance in storm sewers. Göteborg, 1991.
- C:39 Lyngfelt, S.: BASIC-program för beräkning av geometriska parametrar i ledningstvarsnittet med och utan sediment Göteborg, 1991

Other Reports:

Rylander, A., & Sjöström, B-O. Bestämning av motstånds-koefficienterna c_d (x)h medsväng-ande vattenmassa för dampskivor till slangpumpkraftverk (modelltör sök i dyktanken UT/CTH). Technox can Rapport nr 9102.

Claesson, L. & Sjöström, B-O.: Optimal wave power plant spacing in the tropical North Pacific Ocean. Oceans' 91, Hawan, USA. Technocean, Rapporter, 9106

Forsberg, J. & Sjöström, B-O: Överföring av slangpumpens ekvationer till frekvensplanet. Technocean. Rapport 9105.

Sjöström, B.O.: Vagenergiforskningen i världen 1990-1991. En lägesraport. Technocean. Rapport 9105.

Lindvall, G.: Energiförluster i ledningsbrunnar. Laboratoriemätningar vid

icke-stationär strömning. Geohydrologiska forskningsgruppen, Meddelande nr 94, 1993.

Bergdahl, L. Dynamics of mooring cables, Svensk sjöfartstidning, nr. 40, 7 okt., 1994 (STU8901511)

International User-Group Meeting on Computer Aided Analysis and Operation in Sewage Transport and Treatment Technology (**IUGM**), Proceedings. Geohydrological Research Group. Chalmers University of Technology, Göteborg 13-15 June, 1994.

Uppsatser från ledningstekniska forskningsgruppen, Chalmers tekniska högskola 1995. Geohydrologiska forskningsgruppen, Chalmers tekniska högskola, Meddelande nr 96, Göteborg, 1995.

Diploma Theses (Master of Science Programme)

1991:1 Granstedt, P.: Framtida reparationsoch ombyggnadsbehov av våra damm- och kraftanläggningar.

1991:2 Lundén, M.: working conditions of the CONE-SEAL. Experimental investigations.

1991:3 Hellström, I.: Effekter i Göteborgs centrum av en vattenståndshöjning i havet. **1991:4 Appelgren, C., Kullman, M**.: Den hydrologiska modellen NAM.

Sensivitetsanalys av modellparametrar. **1991:5 Jansson, E.; Sicard, T**.: Recharge of groundwater from percolation ponds in South India. Study based on the modelling approach.

1991:6 Lundberg, M., Ekstedt, C.:Kvävefälla i Veselången - teknisk utformning.

1991:7 Herrera, F.: Grafisk presentation av utdata av datorprogrammet MODEX.

1992:1 Andersson, J., Wahlström, R.: A study of water supply at Nkinga Hospital and three villages in Igunga District, Tanzania.

1992:2 Högberg, R.: Att använda randelementprogrammet WAMIT för analys av vågskydd till småbåtshamnar.

1992:3 Nylander, L.: Datorprogram som hjälpmedel vid hamnprojektering.

1992:4 Gustafsson, A-M.: Den hydrologiska modellen NAM. Kalibreringsperiodens inverkan på modellparametrar och verifieringsresultat.

1993:1 Hafsteinn Halldórsson, B.: Natural convection, numerical approach.

Lars Bergdahl Chalmers University of Technology **1993:2 Bähr**, T.:Vågdämpnings-förmåga hos flytande rektangulära vågbrytare. **1994:1 Adamsson, Å, Eriksson K**.: Optimisation of the energy take-out from a

floating wave energy device, the Mighty Whale. - An experimental study.

1994:2 Bågenholm, C.: Refined spillway design - Flood routing.1995:1 Eriksson P.: Rörelser hos Safe

Gothia.

1995:2 Bryngelsson, A., & Tenstam, A.: Numeriska beräkningar av hydro-dynamiska koefficienter för en två-dimensionell platta utsatt för harmoniskt oscillerande tvärströmning.

1995:3 Halldin, A., Arfvidsson, M. Experimental and theoretical study of a wave-energy device.

1995:4 Karlsson, R.I., Nilsson, M.G.: Local scour in front of coastal structures. 1995:5 Tagliaretti, L. (ej godkänt som svenskt exjobb) Wave diffraction in harbours. Validation of a simulation model. 1995:6 Berg, J., Holmqvist. C.: Hydrodynamiska laster på flexibla konstruktioner. En jämförelse av snittkrafter i en fiskodlingsanläggning for tre olika beräkningsmetoder.

1996:1 Malo, M., Styrenius. O.: Studies of the Hydrodynamic Properties in a Stirred Benthic Chamber. I: Development of low pressure sensors.

1996:2 Ekström, P.: Tryckslag (tappvattensystem.

1996:3 Ljungberg, F., Nilsson, J.: The Mighty Whale Airchamber Experimental and Numerical Study

Diploma Theses (Applied Civil Engineering Programme)

1991:1 Abrahamsson, S. Analys av vattenledningsnätet i stadsdelen Backa Göteborg.

1991:2 Grann, M.: Analys av vattenledningsnätet i högzonen kring stadsdelen Slottskogen. Goteborg
1993:1 Björklund, A.: Flodet och vattenkvalitetens beroende av ravattnets fördelning på produktionslinjer vid Alelyckans vattenverk. Goteborg
1993:2 Backlund, M.: Undersokning av effektiviteten av luftreningssystemet for Ryaverkets biologiska steg **1993:3 Johannisson, P.**: Datoranalys av problem med flödeskapacitet i avloppsnätet i området Krokängsparken, Göteborg. **1994:1 Schele, K.F.**: Flotationsförsök i en pilotanläggning vid Lackarebäcks vattenverk.

1994:2 Bergström, M.: Renovering av läckande avloppssystem undersökning av ett problemområde i Långedrag.

1995:1 Enebrand, P., & Pohorela, B.: Undersökning av flockningskammare vid Göteborgs vattenverk

Claesson, A-S., & Rosenqvist, S.: Björkdalen . då avfallsdeponi, idag rekreationsområde.

Astgård, J., & Lundqvist, J.: Datoranalys av Sannegårdens avloppsvattennät med programmet MOUSE.

Current Textbooks

Häggström, S. Hydraulik för V-teknologer. Undervisningsskrift 1988:8, Andra upplagan, 1992

Häggström, S. Uppgifter till Hydraulik för V-teknologer. Undervisningsskrift 1990:5, Tredje upplagan. 1992.

Lyngfelt, S. Kompendium och kursmaterial for kursen VATTENFÖRSÖRJNINGS- OCH AV-LOPPSTEKNIK. Undervisnings-skrift 1992:3

Lyngfelt, S. Hydrologi och miljöteknik. 1992.

Department of Hydraulics

Lars Bergdahl Chalmers University of Technology